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on the motion on December 12, 2003. During that hearing the judge 
discovered that the prosecution had possessed two documents that 
"clearly" contained exculpatory and impeachment material, and there 
was "no question7' that the documents should have been disclosed to 
the defense.64 The court reserved decision on the defendants' motion, 
and ordered the Government to conduct a thorough review of every 
document in the case to determine whether there were additional doc- 
uments that should have been disclosed. 

Following a nine-month review, the Government filed a memo- 
randum dated August 31, 2004, conceding that the convictions were 
flawed and describing in considerable detail how the jury's determina- 
tion was impaired by the misconduct of the prosecution.65 According 
to the Government's memorandum, 

In its best light, the record would show that the prosecution com- 
mitted a pattern of mistakes and oversights that deprived the de- 
fendants of discoverable evidence (including impeachment 
material) and created a record filled with misleading inferences that 
such material did not exist. Accordingly, the government believes 
that it should not prolong the resolution of this matter pursuing 
hearings it has no reasonable prospect of winning.(j6 

The Government requested that the defendants be given a new trial 
on the charges dealing with document fraud, and that the count charg- 
ing them with conspiracy to engage in terrorist activities be dismissed. 
The judge granted the Government's motion.67 

As described below, the Government's memorandum offers an 
extraordinary insight into how a jury can reach the wrong result not 
from any defects intrinsic to the jury's decision-making competence 
but for extrinsic reasons that relate to the nature of the evidence and 
the manner in which it is presented. The Government's memorandum 
described in meticulous detail how the jury received false, misleading, 
incomplete, and prejudicial information, including the prosecution's 
suppression of exculpatory and impeachment evidence, allowing wit- 

64. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 44-45 (citing 121203 TR 167). One of these 
documents was a letter from Milton "Butch" Jones regarding jail housc communications with 
Youseff Hmimssa. See id.  at 44; see also infra notes 113-115 and accompanying text. 

65. See Government Motion, supra note 15. 
66. Id. at 5. From the beginning, even accepting the reliability of the proof, senior officials 

in the Justice Department expressed serious doubts about the strength of the case. See Danny 
Hakim & Eric Lichtblau, After Convictions, the Undoing of a U.S. Terror Prosecution, N .Y .  
T IMES,  Oct. 7,2004, at A1 (stating that officials had described the case's "chance of success" as a 
"close call," and the evidence as "somewhat weak"). 

67. See Unitcd States v. Koubriti, 336 F. Supp. 2d 676, 682 (E.D. Mich. 2004). 
As the Government's filing also makes clear, these failures by the prosecution were not 
sporadic or isolated. Rather, they were of such a magnitude, and were so prevalent and 
pervasive as to constitute a pattern of conduct, that when all of the withheld evidence is 
viewed collectively, it is an inescapable conclusion that the Defendants' due process, 
confrontation and fair trial rights were violated and that the jury's verdict was infected 
to the point that the Court believes there is at least a reasonable probability that the 
jury's verdict would have been different had constitutional standards been met. 

Id. at 681. 
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nesses to give false and misleading, and unreliable, testimony, misus- 
ing experts, coaching witnesses, obstructing cross-examination, and 
making inflammatory arguments to the jury. , 

A. Suppression of Evidence 

One of the techniques employed by prosecutors to obstruct accu- 
rate fact-finding is to conceal exculpatory evidence from the jury that 
has the potential to materially affect the fact-finding process and the 
suppression of which seriously impedes the jury's search for the 

Indeed, the prosecutor's suppression of evidence that would 
be materially favorable to the defense is one of the major causes of 
erroneous  conviction^.^^ Given his superior investigative resources 
and early access to evidence of criminal wrongdoing, a prosecutor has 
a unique ability to acquire evidence that may contradict the prosecu- 
tor's theory of the case. To the extent a prosecutor has exclusive 
knowledge and control of such evidence, the prosecutor has a consti- 
tutional and ethical duty to disclose such information to the defense.70 
By failing to disclose potentially truth-enhancing evidence as well as 
obstructing defense access to potentially truth-enhancing evidence, a 
prosecutor violates his constitutional and ethical duty and impedes the 
jury's ability to find the t r ~ t h . 7 ~  

As the Government's memorandum acknowledged, the prosecu- 
tor concealed from the court, the defense, and the jury evidence that 
would have altered the jury's evaluation of the case, the suppression 
of which arguably produced an erroneous decision. The suppressed 
evidence probably would have altered the jury's conclusion that the 
sketches and the videotape were prepared by the defendants to fur- 
ther a terrorist plot. 

68. See BENNETT L. GERSHMAN,  PROSECIJTORIAL MISCONDUCT $ 5  5:l-5:24 (2d ed. 2003). 
69. See Hugo Adam Bedau & Michael L. Radelet, Miscarriages of Justice in Potentially 

Capital Cases, 40 STAN. L. REV. 21,23,57 (1987) (asserting that fifty of the 350 wrongful convic- 
tions resulted from prosecutorial suppression of exculpatory evidence or other overzealous pros- 
ecution); Marty Rosenbaum, lnevitable Error: Wrongful New York State Homicide Convictions, 
1965-1988, 18 N.Y.U. REV. L. & SOC. CHANGE 807, 809 (1991) ("[A] substantial number of the 
wrongful convictions we have found in New York resulted from prosecutorial misconduct."); 
Ken Armstrong & Maurice Possley, The Verdict: Dishonor, CHI. TRIB., Jan. 10, 1999, at C1 
(claiming 381 homicide cases were reversed because prosecutors concealed evidence suggesting 
defendants' innocence or presented evidence known to be false). 

70. See Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963) ("[S]uppression by the prosecution of 
evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is mate- 
rial either to guilt or punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution."). 

71. The search for truth is generally regarded as the touchstone for the adversary system. 
See Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673,681 (1986) ("[Tlhe central purpose of a criminal trial 
is to decide the factual question of the defendant's guilt or innocence."); Tom Stacy, The Search 
for the Truth in Constitutional Criminal Procedure, 91 COLUM. L. REV. 1369, 1372 (1991) ("The 
theme of accurate adjudication lies at the very heart of the Burger and Rehnquist Courts' vision 
of constitutional criminal procedure."); Thomas L. Steffen. Truth as Second Fiddle: Reevaluating 
the Place of Truth in the Adversarial Trial Ensemble, 4 UTAH L. REV. 799, 804 (1988) ("Simply 
stated, truth is the sine qua non of justice. If justice is to have meaning beyond that of a hollow 
shibboleth, it must reflect a wise and fair application of truth."). 
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1. Jordan "Hospital" Sketch 

Undisclosed evidence suggests that the Jordan sketch, which, ac- 
cording to several Government witnesses depicted the Queen Alia 
Hospital,72 did not in fact represent the hospital. The prosecution's 
insistence notwithstanding, the Government's memorandum stated: 
"It is difficult if not impossible to compare the day planner sketches 
with the photos and see a correlation between the drawings and the 
hospital site."73 Undisclosed e-mails and photographs from the State 
Department indicate that the testimony of prosecution witness Ray 
Smith, the State Department employee who claimed that the sketch 
positively matched the hospital and that it was not possible to take 
photographs, was ~ n t r u t h f u l . ~ ~  Contrary to the testimony of Govern- 
ment witnesses, photographs of the hospital not only could have been 
taken, but were in fact taken at the prosecution's request.75 The Gov- 
ernment's memorandum stated that the suppression of this evidence 
"misled" the jury by creating the "false impression" first, that there 
was consensus that the drawing depicted the h0spital,7~ and second, 
that "photos could not be taken due to diplomatic red tape."77 

Additional undisclosed evidence would have proved that after 
Smith's trip to Jordan, he advised his superiors that he visited both the 
hospital and the airport, and that after looking at the sketch, he could 
not establish what the sketch referred Indeed, a draft prosecu- 
tion memorandum prepared after Smith's Jordan trip referred to the 
sketch as depicting not the hospital but the airport.79 

Moreover, the prosecution concealed from the jury that the 
Jordanians initially believed that the sketch depicted the Queen Alia 
Airport and not the hospital and misled the jury into believing that 
the Jordanians focused on the hospital from the start.80 According to 

- - p~ 

72. See supra notes 25-31 and accompanying text. 
73. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 23. 
74. Id. at 22-23. These e-mails show (1) after visiting the hospital and the airport, Smith 

"could not establish which site (if either) the sketch referred to," (2) there was "no problem 
obtaining permission to take aerial photographs," and (3) despite repeated requests, none of the 
persons who were assigned to take photos of the hospital site could locate the "large dead tree." 
Id. at 21, 22 n.9, 21-22. Agent George reinforced Smith's claim, emphasizing in his testimony 
that "photographs could not be taken." Id. at 23 (quoting 26 Tr. 4843). 

75. Id. at 20-22. E-mails state that "at AUSA Convertino's request, he had obtained and 
given to SA Thomas a series of aerial and ground photos of the Queen Alia Hospital." Id. at  21. 
George's testimony reinforced Smith's assertion that diplomatic red tape prevented him from 
taking photographs of the hospital. Id. at 23. In his testimony, George stated, "I leave that 
discretion entirely to him. So if he tells me he felt that taking photographs would, in any way, 
impact on his ability to do his primary mission, sir, I leave that entirely to him." Id. (quoting 26 
Tr. 46621. 

76.-'Id. at  22-23. 
77. Id. at 23. 
78. Id. at 21. 
79. Id. at 21 n.8. 
80. Id. at 24 n.11. Thomas stated to the Public Integrity investigators during the post-trial 

inquiry "that the Jordanians initially believed that the sketch was of the Queen Alia Airport and 
not the hospital," but Thomas did not reveal, this to the jury during his testimony. Id. 
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Thomas' testimony: "We presented [the sketch] to the Jordanians. 
They said we believe this is the military hospital." Smith sidestepped 
the question, asked on direct examination, as to why he went to the 
airport first by responding that "'one of the reasons' they went [to the 
airport] was because it had 'Queen Alia' in its name." He failed to 
answer why they visited the airport first.81 Smith again gave a mis- 
leading answer "when asked on cross-examination whether the airport 
was the Jordanians first [opinion] upon looking at the sketch," sug- 
gesting again that the only reason they went to the airport was be- 
cause it had the name "Queen Alia."s2 

Further, several undisclosed e-mails contained a series of aerial 
photographs of the hospital and the road networks leading to the hos- 
pital. Although the State Department requested photographs of the 
hospital, particularly of the "large dead tree," which was urged by the 
prosecution to constitute such a prominent landmark, neither Smith 
nor his associates could locate the tree.83 Following the prosecutor's 
request that additional photographs be taken to locate the tree, a new 
set of photographs was taken of the hospital with more specific direc- 
tions as to where the tree might be located. All of the photographs 
were forwarded to the prosecutor. Nevertheless, through the testi- 
mony of Smith and FBI Agent George, the jury was informed that 
"photographs could not be taken."S4 Finally, the above sets of photos 
mysteriously "disappeared" after the 

2. "Turkish Air Base7' Sketch 

Undisclosed evidence also contradicts the prosecution's conten- 
tion that the sketch labeled "American Base in Turkey Under Com- 
mands of Secretary of Defense for All Weapons" was a "casing 
sketch" of the Incirlik Air Base in Turkey. The prosecution witnesses 
conveyed the impression, shown to be false, that government officials 
were unanimous.86 An undisclosed internal report by an Air Force 
investigator alleged that the Government's assertion at trial that the 
hardened air shelter (HAS) at the base was "almost identical" to the 
drawing, and that the dark parallel lines and human-like figures on the 

81. Id. 
82. Id.  (quoting 11 Tr. 1805). 
83. Id .  at 21-22. 
84. Id. at 23 (quoting 26 Tr. 4843). 
85. Id.  at 25 11.12. Although Thomas was given two different sets of photos of the hospital 

site: Thomas "failed to enter the photos into the FBI's . . . files." Id. "Thomas claimed he 
planned to enter the photos into the FBI evidence filc digitally," but was never given the appro- 
priate disk. Id .  Thomas claimed he last saw the photos in the "trial preparation room" and 
speculated that a paralegal "may have thrown them away after trial." I d .  As the government's 
memorandum states, "The disappearance of these photos that the prosecution team sought so 
diligently to acquire would be difficult for the government to explain at a new trial hearing." Id.  

86. See supra notes 32-38 and accompanying text. According to the Government's memo- 
randum, this impression was "inaccurate." Government Motion, supra note 15, at 33. 
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sketch that allegedly represent fields of fire, were "highly specula- 
tive."S7 The Air Force report asserted that these speculative portions 
of the sketch were "sold" to the prosecution as facts. The Air Force 
report also asserted that the prosecutor "believe[d] strongly in the 
HAS theory and want[ed] someone from [the Air Force] to testify that 
the drawing [was] in fact a HAS."8s 

Moreover, after closely examining the Turkey sketch, Air Force 
investigators had formed an alternative theory that the figure on the 
lower left portion of the drawing was a map of the Middle East.89 
Colonel Peterson, the Government's principal witness that the sketch 
depicted the air base, did not disclose that others within the Air Force 
disagreed with her testimony,90 nor did she reveal that she was aware 
of the alternative "Middle East map" theory.Y1 The map theory had 
been relayed to the prosecutor, along with an innocent explanation of 
how it may have been created. The prosecutor replied "adamantly, 
'[ilt's not a map of the Middle East.'"92 

The prosecutor also suppressed evidence that intelligence offi- 
cials did not believe the sketches were connected to terrorist activities. 
After viewing the sketch, high-level intelligence officials employed by 
the Turkish National Police concluded "that the sketch did not look 
like any terrorist sketch they had [ever] seen in the past."93 In addi- 
tion, William McNair, a former Information Review Officer for the 
Director of Operations at the Central Intelligence Agency, had given 
the prosecutor prior to trial a "similarly negative [opinion] of the 
Turk[ish] air base sketch," suggesting that it was "what one would ex- 
pect from someone who was not very well-trained.7794 Moreover, after 
soliciting the opinions of various individuals in the CIA'S counter-ter- 
rorism and paramilitary center, McNair indicated that none of these 
officials believed that the sketch was "indicative of any particular 

87. Government Motion, supra note 15, at 28 n.13, 29. The report, prepared by Special 
Agent Goodnight, provided a detailed summary of his reasons for concluding that the sketch did 
not depict the Turkish air base, particularly the location and description of the air shelter. Id. at 
31. Goodnight specifically warned the prosecutor not to hang his hat on the theory that the 
sketch depicted the Turkish air base. Id. 

88. Id. at 30 (quoting ¶ 15 of Internal Addendum to March 26,2003 Air Force OSI Reporl). 
89. Id. 
90. Id. at 33. "Neither Peterson nor the prosecution advised either the defense or the Court 

of the Air Force's alternative theories." Id. at 32 n.18. 
91. Id. at 32 n.18 ("Peterson has since admitted to the Public Integrity investigators that she 

had seen the document (enlargement by Air Force officials of the lower left drawing) prior to 
trial but did not associate that with the defense's question of whether she had ever seen a 
blowup."). 

92. Id. at 33 ("Although Goodnight knew that the Air Force had developcd a Middle East 
map theory, Goodnight knew from Convertino's tone that the topic was not up for discussion 
and there was no further discussion of the topic."). 

93. Id. at 34-35. Although it is clear that the opinion of the Turkish intelligence officials was 
conveyed to the prosecution, this information was not disclosed to the defense and investigators 
did not find a c o ~ v  of the report in the FBI's files. Id. at 34 11.20. 

Heinonline 44 Washburn L.J. 343 20042005 



344 Washburn Law Journal [Vol. 44 

group or country" or "conveyed any useful in f~rmat ion ."~~  According 
to McNair, the prosecutor "didn't much care what I was saying."96 It 
was McNair's belief that the prosecutor "was shopping for an opinion 
consistent with his own."97 

3. "Surveillance" Videotape 

The prosecutor also suppressed evidence that would have under- 
mined his asserted position that the videotape was "operational ter- 
rorist material." The prosecutor claimed that the videotape's 
depiction of sites in Las Vegas constituted evidence of surveillance in 
contemplation of terrorist acts.98 The prosecutor suppressed evidence 
from the Las Vegas FBI and the Las Vegas U.S. Attorney's Office that 
contradicted the prosecutor's claim, asserting instead that the video 
was not a surveillance tape but merely a tourist video.99 In fact, those 
agencies had specifically' asked the prosecutor to provide evidence as 
to why he considered the tape to be sur~eillance.10~ 

Moreover, contrary to the prosecutor's claim that the audio por- 
tion of the tape contained Arabic that was relatively easy to under- 
stand,lol the prosecutor was in possession of a government 
communication detailing the difficulty of translating the "audio por- 
tions of the videotape due to" the unusual Tunisian or Algerian dialect 
being spoken.lo2 According to the communication, Government 

95. I d .  McNair obtained opinions from the CIA'S Counter Terrorism Center, as well as 
document analysts at the CIA. and CIA "paramilitary people." Id. McNair "shared these opin- 
ions with AUSA Convertino over the course of approximately five to ten [telephone] conversa- 
tions," advising him that "it was the collective opinion of the people with whom he discussed the 
sketch that the sketch was not a very good work product." Id. at 36. 

96. Id. at 36. According to McNair, "Convertino was not really asking for the CIA'S opin- 
ion; he was stating that he thought the drawings were casing sketches of the Incirlik Airbase and 
insisting that his case rested on that assessment." Id. 

97. Id. (quoting McNair's Decl.). During the post-trial investigation, Convertino denied 
McNair's statements and alleged that McNair "is retaliating against Convertino out of spite." Id. 
at 36 n.21. Convertino has also urged that even if McNair did make the statements to Conver- 
tino (which other witnesses confirm that McNair did make), Convertino "would not have heard 
it because he believed McNair was incompetent and had tuned him out." Id. 

98. See supra notes 39-41 and accompanying text. 
99. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 40. "According to an August 11, 2004 A P  

news article entitled Vegas Police Say They Saw Terror Tapes, a purported e-mail from Assistant 
United States Attorney Sharon Lever in Las Vegas to AUSA Convertino in the Fall of 2002 
stated: 'The FBI here has looked at the tape. Tbey said it is not a surveillance."' Id. at 40 n.24. 
Similarly, "several law enforcement officials in Las Vegas determined that the videotape repre- 
sented no threat to that city." Id. (referring to Steve Kanigher, Debate Over LV Terroricm Alle- 
gation Intensifies, LAS V E G A ~  SUN, Aug. 11, 2004, http://www.lasvegassun.com/sunbin/stories/ 
sun/2004/aug/11/517322092.html). According to sources, the tape 

looked like a tourist video . . . . It did not have the type of detail you would expect to 
see in a terrorist tape, such as entrances and exits, parking garages and underground 
facilities. If you wanted to get the information seen on that videotape, you could have 
gotten that much information and more on the internet. 

Id. at 40 n.24 (quoting Kanigher, supra). 
100. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 40. Neither of the Las Vegas assessments 

was furnished to the Court or defense counsel prior to trial. Id. 
101. See supra note 41. 
102. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 41. 
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Arabic language specialists "[had] further advised that the dialect of 
the individuals in the video [was] that of Tunisian or Algerian, [which 
made] it even more difficult to transcribe."lo3 Indeed, this was the 
same position advanced by the defendants at trial that the prosecutor 
challenged, namely, that the videotape was a tourist tape depicting a 
group of young Tunisians visiting notable United States attractions 
and containing language that was a mix of classical Arabic and a Tuni- 
sian dialect.lo4 The defense had claimed, apparently correctly, that 
the Government translators had mistranslated critical portions of the 
videotape.lo5 

B. Suborned Testimony 

A prosecutor's constitutional and ethical duty to disclose materi- 
ally favorable evidence to the defense includes the duty to ensure that 
his witnesses do not offer testimony that is false, misleading, or incom- 
plete.106 A prosecutor has a constitutional and ethical duty to correct 
such testimony so that the jury does not receive a false or misleading 
impression of the evidence.lo7 As with the suppression of evidence, 
prosecutors have the ability to corrupt the fact-finding process by ei- 
ther knowingly soliciting false or misleading testimony or allowing a 
witness to give false and misleading testimony without correcting it.Ios 

As noted above, the testimony of prosecution witnesses Ray 
Smith and Michael Thomas was at best misleading, and at worst un- 
truthful.109 But even more critical to the jury's determination was the 
testimony of Youseff Hmimssa. As the Government's memorandum 
acknowledged, the jury received false and misleading testimony from 
Hmimssa, who was the only witness who testified that the defendants 
were involved in terrorist activities.l10 Typically, the testimony of co- 

103. Id. The communication stated that it would "forward a copy of the tape to the FE3I . . . 
for enhancement, and locate a Language Specialist who is familiar with this specific Arabic dia- 
lect." Id. 

104. See supra note 41. 
105. See id.  at 41-42. The defense claim has been confirmed by information recently ob- 

tained by the FBI that the video was taken of a young Tunisian, his brother, and a number of 
other Tunisian students as part of a University social club touring the United States. Id. The 
young man's description of the tour and the innocent manner in which the video was produced 
has been "deemed credible" by the FBI agents who interviewed him. See id. 

106. See Mooney v. Holohan, 294 U.S. 103,112 (1935) ("[Dleliberate deception of court and 
jury by the presentation of testimony known to be perjured . . . is . . . inconsistent with the 
rudimentary demands of justice."). 

107. See Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 694 (2004) ("Farr repeatedly misrepresented his 
dealings with police; each time Farr responded untruthfully, the prosecution allowed his testi- 
mony to stand uncorrected."). 

108. See Barbara A. Babcock, Fair Play: Evidence Favorable to an Accused and Effective 
Assistance of Counsel, 34 STAN. L. REV. 1133, 1151 (1982) ("In terms of truth-seeking, there is 
frequently no real difference between the jury's hearing perjury and its failing to hear significant 
favorable evidence."). 

109. See supra notes 25-31 and accompanying text. 
110. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 42-49. ?he trial judge also found Hmimssa 

was "not credible" during his testimony at the December 12, 2003 hearing. Id. at 2 n.1. 
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operating witnesses such as Hmimssa has a powerful impact on the 
jury. No other witness has such an extraordinary incentive to lie.lll 
For the prosecutor, the cooperating witness often provides the most 
damaging evidence against a defendant, is usually capable of lying 
convincingly, and typically is believed by the jury.l12 

There is ample evidence that the prosecution concealed from the 
jury information suggesting that Hmimssa gave untruthful testimony. 
An undisclosed letter to the prosecution from a prison inmate, Milton 
"Butch" Jones, related a series of jail house conversations with Hmim- 
ssa in which Hmimssa made statements that contradicted much of his 
testimony.113 Hmimssa portrayed himself on the witness stand as a 
person sympathetic to the United States.114 However, Jones claimed 
that Hmimssa bragged about "fooling the FBI and the Secret Ser- 
vice," "expressed hostility toward President Bush and Attorney Gen- 
eral Ashcroft, asserted that God would punish the United States for 
its actions in Afghanistan, indicated a desire to hurt the United States 
economy through fraud, [and] boasted" that he sold false identifica- 
tion documents to the September 11 hijackers.l15 

Other undisclosed evidence corroborates Jones' statement that 
Hmimssa "harbored anti-American views and . . . vehemently op- 
posed the United States' involvement in Afghanistan." For example, 
the prosecution did not disclose a copy of a newspaper article found in 
the trash at Hmimssa's apartment as a "photograph of Northern Alli- 
ance fighters over which was written 'BAD MUSLIMS.'"116 Also not 
disclosed was the identity of a witness, the manager of the apartment 
where Hmimssa lived, who stated that Hmimssa told him: "Any sol- 
dier who lands in Afghanistan will die.""' 

111. See Hoffa v. United States, 385 U.S. 293, 311 (1966); On Lee v. United States, 343 U.S. 
747, 757 (1952). 

112. Yaroshefsky, supra note 6, at 918-21 (describing dangers of using cooperating witnesses 
from extensive interviews with former federal prosecutors). It appears that the Detroit jury did 
not completely believe Hmimssa's testimony. In a telephone conversation with Richard M. Hcl- 
frick, Esq., attorney for defendant Koubriti, Mr. Helfrick suggested that in post-trial interviews, 
some jurors had expressed reservations about Hmimssa's credibility. Moreover, after news sto- 
ries revealed the government's doubts over Hmimssa's veracity, several jurors sought to speak to 
the trial judge to express concerns about their verdict. Telephone Interview with Richard M. 
Helfrick, Esq. (Oct. 7, 2004). 

113. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 44-45. "[Tlhe Criminal Chief of the Detroit 
U.S. Attorney's Office described the need to disclose this [letter] to the defense as a 'no 
brainer."' Id. at 44 (quoting 12-12-03 Tr. 71 (Allen), 83 (Gershel)). ?he court observed that this 
letter "clearly contains . . . exculpatory and impeachment material," and that "there is 'no ques- 
tion in the Court's mind that this document should have been turned over."' Id. at 44-45 (quot- 
ing 12-12-30 Tr. 167). 

114. See supra note 46 and accompanying text. 
115. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 44. 
116. Id. at 45. 
117. Id. Hmimssa also may have given false testimony when he stated that defendant 

Elmardoudi had given him a flight school visa so that Hmirnssa could learn the necessary fight 
codes and fight school information in order to create false flight school visas for terrorists in the 
future. However, the testimony of other witnesses suggests that Hmimssa received visas from 
them for the purpose of falsifying them to enable these people to obtain employment. Id. at 26. 

Heinonline 44 Washburn L.J. 346 20042005 



ZOOS] How Juries Get It Wrong 347 

The impact on the jury of Hmimssa's testimony was aggravated 
by the prosecution's conduct in eliciting testimony from Hmimssa sug- 
gesting his courage and resolve in cooperating with the Government 
against the defendants. Thus, in response to the prosecutor's ques- 
tions, Hmimssa acknowledged that he was putting his life in danger by 
testifying.lls Hmimssa also testified that he was escorted by sixteen 
United States marshals and had to wear a bulletproof vest.H9 He fur- 
ther testified that when he got out of jail his life would be in danger 
from the defendants' worldwide network.120 

C .  Eyewitness Testimony 

In addition to cooperating witnesses, other types of witnesses 
pose difficult fact-finding challenges for even the most conscientious 
and intelligent jury. Identification witnesses have been viewed as 
among the most inherently unreliable ~i tnesses. l2~ The United States 
Supreme Court has described the danger posed by identification wit- 
nesses: "The vagaries of eyewitness identification are well-known; the 
annals of criminal law are rife with instances of mistaken identifica- 
tion."122 Commentators have suggested that mistakes by identifica- 
tion witnesses may be the single largest cause of jury error.lZ3 

There is ample evidence to suggest that the identification testi- 
mony of Caroline Fuhr Sadowski was mistaken. It was critical for the 
prosecution to establish some connection between the defendants and 
Ali Ahmed in order to support the theory that Ali Ahmed had been 
duped into signing the notebook containing the two sketches. The 
prosecution knew that the local police had investigated this incident, 
and that Thamis Zaia had called the police admitting he was the per- 
son who purchased the cigarettes.124 The prosecution also knew that 

118. See Defendants' Motion, supra note 62, at 33. 
119. Id. 
120. Id. It is not clear how much weight the jury gave to Hmimssa's testimony. Post-trial 

interviews with jurors suggest that the jury accepted Hmimssa's testimony only "when it was 
corroborated by other evidence." Ronald J. Hansen! Jury Weighs Key Witness Testimony 
Lighlly; Jurors Examined Case on Its Merit, Ignored the Charged National Backdrop, They Said, 
DETROIT NEWS, June 4,2003, at 6A. 

121. FEI.IX FRANKFIJRTER, THE CASE OF SACCO AND VANZETTI 30 (1927) ("[Tlhe identifica- 
tion of strangers is proverbially untrustworthy. The hazards of such testimony are established by 
a formidable number of instances in the records of English and American trials."); Jennifer L. 
Devenport et al., Eyewitness Identification Evidence, Evaluating Commonsense Evaluations, 3 
PSYCHOL. PUB. POL'Y & L. 338 (1997) (noting that "both archival studies and psychological 
research suggest that eyewitnesses are frequently mistaken in their identifications"). 

122. United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 228 (1967). 
123. Rattner, supra note 6, at 289 (describing a study of morc than two hundred felony cases 

of wrongful conviction that found misidentification to be the single largest sourcc of error, ac- 
counting for more than half of the cases that had one main error). 

124. Defendants' Motion, supra note 62, at 30 ("The Government knew that the local police 
had conducted an investigation of this incident" and "knew that Thamis Zaia had called the 
Farmington Hills police and admitted he was the person with Ali Ahmed at Sam's Club."); see 
also Government Motion, supra note 15, a t  54-55 (stating that since trial, Zaia has told agents 
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Zaia had a history of illegal activity involving cigarettes.125 Sadow- 
ski's positive identification of defendant Koubriti as the man with Ah- 
med at Sam's Club is inconsistent with information known by the 
prosecution that suggested that Zaia was the person who accompanied 
Ahmed. 

D. Partisan Experts 

A prosecutor's use of experts typically provides the government 
with distinct ad~an tages . '~~  "First, in contrast with other types of wit- 
nesses, the expert usually is viewed by the jury with an 'aura of special 
reliability and tr~stworthiness.'"'~~ Second, the expert usually pos- 
sesses impressive credentials, which the prosecutor meticulously elicits 
and that reinforce the jury's confidence in the expert's opinion. Third, 
the expert usually is adept at testifying, and communicates her theory 
and conclusions articulately, persuasively, and in language that lay ju- 
rors can understand. Fourth, the expert's conclusions invariably inter- 
lock with other evidence in the case and corroborate the prosecution's 
theory of guilt. Thus, the expert, more than any other witness who 
testifies in a United States courtroom, possesses the greatest capacity 
to mislead the jury. In tandem with a prosecutor who zealously seeks 
a conviction, the expert can often secure that conviction. 

Special FBI Agent Paul George, who testified as a "summary ex- 
pert," clearly made a powerful impression on the jury. Relying on the 
sketches, videotape, and Hmimssa's testimony, George opined that 
the defendants operated a terrorist cell that was "going to strike out 
against, against the United .States and abroad."l28 He described the 
sketches and videotape as "casing material" that "clearly shows this is 
a repository of intelligence [containing] operational terrorist mate- 
ria1."129 George also "testified that [defendant] Koubriti had a 'lead- 
ership role' based on [his] 'language abilities' and 'leadership 
pers0nality."'l3~ Relying on the testimony of Hmimssa that Koubriti 
threatened to kill him if he was an informant, George opined that 
"[lleaders will react more impulsively. This, again, is why they are 
leaders . . . . "131 George further testified that defendant Mardoudi 
also had a leadership role "based on his ability to communicate inter- 

who were unaware of Zaia's involvement in the Koubriti matter "that he was present with Ali 
Ahmed at Sam's Club and that Koubriti (whom Zaia does not know) was not"). 

125. Government Motion, sunra note 15, at 54. 
126. Bennett L. Gershman, Misuse of Scientific Evidence by Prosecutors, 28 OKLA. C r n  U. 

L. REV. 17, 29 (2003). 
127. United States v. Amaral, 488 F.2d 1148. 1152 19th Cir. 1973). 
128. See supra note 20 and accompanying text. 
129. See supra notes 22-23 and accompanying text. 
130. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 12 n.4 (quoting 25 Tr. 4516-17). 
131. Id. (quoting 25 Tr. 4518). 
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nationally." He characterized defendants Hannan and Ali-Haimoud 
"as simply involved group members."132 

George's analysis, in retrospect, seems ludicrous. Indeed, as the 
Government has conceded, subsequent events have "undermined 
each part of [his testimony]."133 It appears that he gave the prosecu- 
tion the "expert opinions" that it wanted to hear.134 Moreover, the 
basis for his opinions is almost laughable. George explained that he 
reached his opinions by asking whether the sketches "could be a cas- 
ing sketch," whether the sketches "were consistent with a place in the 
real world," and whether the sketched location "[was] a possible ter- 
rorist target."135 Whereas to some observers the drawing looked like 
childish doodles,136 George concluded that the "drawing looked like it 
depicted something that could exist."13' As the Government's memo- 
randum observed, however, George's three-step formula presumably 
would have led him to characterize a child's sketch of the Empire 
State Building as an "operational terrorist casing sketch."138 Finally, 
as the Government has acknowledged, the "vulnerability" of George's 
analysis is further underscored by the failure of George to evaluate 
the training level of the sketch artist, one of the bases upon which the 
Turkish National Police and the CIA discounted the sketches as ter- 
rorist-related.139 

E. Coaching Witnesses 

Witness coaching has been described as the "darkv-some have 
even called it "dirtyv-secret of the United States adversary sys- 
tem.140 It is a practice that, more than anything else, has given trial 
lawyers a reputation as shifty, and is maybe solely responsible for pro- 
ducing erroneous verdicts.141 It is indisputable that some prosecutors 
coach witnesses with the deliberate objective of presenting false and 

132. Id.  (quoting 25 Tr. 4516). 
133. Id. at 13. 
134. See supra notes 89-97 and accompanying text. 
135. See supra note 23 and accompanying text. 
136. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at  32-33 (Agent Thomas allegedly was in- 

formed by Nasser Ahmed, a Yemeni man, that his mentally unstable brother, Ali Ahmed, might 
have been doodling in the day planner and drawn a sketch of the Middle East.). 

137. See id. at 15 (quoting 25 Tr. 4538-39). 
138. See id. at 15, 16 n.6. 
139. See supra note 93 and accompanying text. 
140. See John S. Applegate, Witness Preparation, 68 TEX. L. REV. 277,279 (1989) ('LWitness 

preparation is treated as one of the dark secrets of the legal profession."); Roberta K. Flowers, 
What You See Is What You Get: Applying the Appearance of Impropriety Standard to Prosecu- 
tors, 63 M o .  L. REV. 699, 740 (1998) (describing witness preparation as "The Profession's Dirty 
Little Secret"). 

141. See, e.g., Bennett L. Gershman, Witness Coaching By Prosecufors, 23 CARDOZO L. REV. 
829 (2002) (analyzing the incentives for prosecutors to coach witnesses and discussing methods 
of detection and prevention). 
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misleading testimony.142 And given the secrecy surrounding the pros- 
ecutor's preparation of his witnesses, it is virtually impossible to ascer- 
tain whether and to what extent witnesses have been coached by 
prosecutors and p01ice.l~~ 

It appears that the prosecutor shaped the testimony of several of 
his witnesses by improper coaching tactics. For example, during his 
direct examination of witnesses, the prosecutor elicited highly prejudi- 
cial testimony that the witnesses were being given special security pro- 
t e ~ t i 0 n . l ~ ~  Such inflammatory testimony was obviously planned in 
advance and had the logical effect of prejudicing the jury either con- 
sciously or unconsciously. Indeed, the security measures described by 
Hrnimssa could reasonably have led the most fair-minded jury to be- 
lieve that the United States Marshal Service was convinced a terror 
network connected to the defendants was attempting to intimidate 
Government witnesses and posed a real threat to Hmimssa and the 
members of the jury. 

In addition, the evolution over time of Hmimssa's testimony pro- 
vides a strong reason to believe he was coached to improve his testi- 
mony. As described in the Government's memorandum,145 Hmimssa, 
in an early version of his story, stated that the defendants were going 
to purchase weapons from a "black male in Detroit."146 A second 
version changed and amplified his story, so that he now stated that a 
"black muslim male in Detroit was going to purchase and ship weap- 
ons to the GIA [a terrorist group] in Algeria."l47 A third version ad- 
ded the word "brother" from whom the defendants were going to 
purchase weapons; the term "brother," according to Hmimssa, was 
used to define Islamists who are politically active.148 In addition, 

142. See, e.g., Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 675 (2004) (prosecutor suppressed evidence 
that "witness' trial testimony had been intensively coached by prosecutors and law enforcement 
officers"); Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 443 (1995) (noting that the differences between the 
original story and the trial testimony of the prosecution's key identification witness would have 
raised "a substantial implication that the prosecutor had coached h ~ m  to give ~t."); Alcorta v. 
Texas, 355 U.S. 28, 30-31 (1957) (witness's misleading testimony obviously coached by prosecu- 
tor to avoid damaging implications); Walker v. City of New York, 974 F.2d 293, 295 (2d Cir. 
1992) (accomplice's false testimony undoubtedly resulted from careful coaching by prosecutor). 

143. Gershman, supra note 141, at 851 (explaining the difficulty presented by the absence of 
any verbatim record or other documentation of interview sessions as well as limited capacity of 
cross-examination to expose improper witness preparation). 

144. See Defendants' Motion, supra note 62, at 34. 
145. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 48 n.31. 
146. Id. at 48 n.31. Hmimssa stated, "Koubriti, Hannan and Ali-Hammoud all wanted to 

train for Jihad in the U.S. In particular, Ali-Hammoud said he had seen a cache of weapons 
from a black male in Detroit and was going to purchase weapons, including fully automatic 
machine guns." Id. 

147. Id. Hmimmsa stated, "Koubriti, Hannan and Ali Hammoud all wanted to train for 
Jihad in the U.S. In particular, Al-Hammoud said he had seen a cache of weapons from a black 
Muslin male in Detroit and was going to purchase and ship weapons to the CIA in Algeria, 
including fully automatic machine guns and weapons with laser sights." Id. 

148. Id. at  49. Hmimssa stated, "Koubriti, Hannan and Ali-Hammoud all wanted to train for 
Jihad in the U.S. In particular, Ali-Hammoud said he had seen a cache of weapons from a 

Heinonline 44 Wa-shburn L.J. 350 20042005 



20051 How Juries Get It Wrong 351 

Hmimssa's versions changed to excise earlier statements that sug- 
gested that the defendants were involved in alien smuggling, not ter- 
rorist attacks.149 

F .  Obstructing. Cross- Exuminution 

Cross-examination is assumed to be the most important adver- 
sarial safeguard to ascertaining the truth.150 One of the principal tech- 
niques of cross-examination is to confront a witness with statements 
the witness may have made prior to trial for the purpose of demon- 
strating that the witness previously said something that is inconsistent 
with his trial testimony and, therefore, the witness is not trustwor- 
thy.151 For this purpose a prosecutor is legally obligated to disclose 
prior statements by his witness to the defense.152 If a prosecutor limits 
the availability of such prior statements, the prosecutor has effectively 
prevented the defense from demonstrating the unreliability of the wit- 
ness and consequently impedes the ability of the jury to make an accu- 
rate assessment of the witness's ~redibi1ity.l~~ 

The prosecution's nondisclosure of critical evidence bearing on 
Hmimssa's credibility was compounded by its decision to limit the 
transcription of statements made by Hmimssa during debriefings after 
he began to cooperate with the Government. As the Government's 
memorandum acknowledged, "[Tlhe [prosecutor] made a deliberate 
decision not to have the FBI take any notes or prepare any memo- 

brother in Detroit and was going to purchase and ship weapons to the GIA in Algeria, including 
fully automatic machine guns and weapons with laser sights." Id. (quoting 14 Tr. 2465). 

149. Id. Hmimssa omitted in his final version a reference to the defendants' "smuggl[ing] 
people from Canada to the U.S. via boat," thereby giving the impression that the defendants 
were casing the Ambassador Bridge not for the purpose of alien smuggling but to further a 
terrorist attack. Id. at  49 n.31. 

150. 5 JOHN HENRY WIGMORE, EVIDENCE IN TRIALS AT COMMON LAW 8 1367, at 32 (James 
H. Chadbourne rev., 1974) (describing cross-examination as "the greatest legal engine ever in- 
vented for the discovery of truth"). 

151.  See 2 MCCORMICK ON EVIDENCE Q 33, at  122-25 (John W. Strong ed., 5th ed. 1999) 
("most frequently employed" impeachment technique is proving "that the witness on a previous 
occasion has made statements inconsistent with his present testimony"). 

152. See, e.g., The Jencks Act. 18 U.S.C. S 3500 (1993). Under the Jencks Act, these state- 
ments include (1) writtcn statements made by the witness that are "signed or otherwise adopted 
or approved" by the witness: (2) statements that contain a "substantially verbatim recital o f '  any 
oral statement made by the "witness and recorded contemporaneously with thc making of such 
statement"; or (3) a statement made by the witness to a grand jury. Id. 5 3500(e). Due process 
also requires disclosure of witness statements which relate to the witness's testimony and are 
materially favorable to the defendant either to impeach the witness or exculpate the defendant. 
See United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 675 (1985). 

153. Neither the police nor the prosecutor has any legal obligation to record witness inter- 
views. United States v. Bernard, 625 F.2d 854, 859-60 (9th Cir. 1980). Some prosecutors and 
police as a mattcr of policy do not take notes specifically to avoid creating contradictory evi- 
dence. Yaroshefsky, supra note 6, at  961 (Prosecutors comrncnted that the office lore is "don't 
take too many notes or figure out how to take notes so that they are mcaningful to you and no 
one else. You do not want a complete set of materials that you have to disclose."). Moreover, 
notes may be withheld from the defense even if they contain significant impeachment evidence 
when it is shown that the notes are selections, summaries, or interpretations by the government 
agent. See Palermo v. United States, 360 U.S. 343, 349-50 (1959). 
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randa of these sessions in order to limit defense counsel's ability to 
cross-examine H m i m ~ s a . " ' ~ ~  "There were at least 10 undocumented 
interviews" with Hmimssa "that took place over 20 to 30 
The prosecutor took his own notes but then claimed that all interviews 
with Hmimssa were for "'witness preparation' and that his own notes 
were privileged and not di~coverable."l5~ 

Moreover, in response to defense complaints about the Govern- 
ment's failure to document the interviews with Hmimssa, several pros- 
ecution witnesses gave the misleading impression that their note- 
taking practices "followed normal government procedures," and they 
denied, falsely, that they were instructed by the prosecutor not to take 
notes.157 As the Government's memorandum acknowledged, "[Tlhe 
[prosecutor's] approach to documenting Hmimssa's cooperation pre- 
vented defendants from determining the extent to which, if any, his 
testimony changed over time."158 

G.  Inflammatory Arguments 

The prosecutor has a unique status in the eyes of the jury and 
therefore a unique opportunity to mislead and prejudice the jury. Be- 
cause the prosecutor is the attorney for the government, he ordinarily 
is viewed by the jury as a highly knowledgeable official "who can be 
trusted to use the facts responsibly."l5Y Courts have recognized the 
jury's respect for the prosecutor's prestige and expertise, and the 
jury's confidence in the prosecutor's judgment rather than its own 
view of the evidence. The United States Supreme Court has observed 
that "the prosecutor's opinion carries with it the imprimatur of the 
Government and may induce the jury to trust the Government's judg- 
ment rather than its own view of the evidence."l60 

154. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 46. Apparently agents took notes of early 
"proffer" sessions with Hmimssa. However, "once [he] began cooperating in mid-March 2002, 
the . . . agents did not take any notes or prepare any. . . memoranda." Id. at 46 11.28 (citing 8 Tr. 
1253-54). 

155. Id. at 46, 11.28 (quoting 8 Tr. 1253). 
156. Id. at 46. "Likewise, Hmimssa was not called before the Grand Jury" and therefore 

gave no documented prior testimony. Id. Apparently the prosecutor was "cautioned" against 
this approach by officials in the Justice Department and the Detroit United States Attorney's 
Office. Id. 

157. Id. at 47 (citing 9 Tr. 1369, 26 Tr. 4667-73, 8 Tr. 1177). Although Thomas specifically 
denied being instructed not to take notes, Agent George recently indicated, in direct contrast to 
Thomas's trial testimony, that the prosecutor did specifically direct Thomas not to take notes. 
Id. (citing 3/17/04 George Statement, at 8). 

158. Id. at 48. Moreover, "although [the prosecutor] provided the [trial] court with a version 
of his typewritten notes, other typed versions . . . recently surfaced." Id. 

159. Bennett L. Gershman, The Prosecutor's Duty to Truth, 14 CEO. J. LEGAL ETHICS 309, 
315 (2001). 

160. United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 18-19 (1985); see also United States v. Modica, 663 
F.2d 1173 (2d Cir. 1981). 

The prosecutor is cloaked with the authority of the United States Government; he 
stands before the jury as the community's representative. His remarks are those, not 
simply of an advocate, but rather of a federal official duty-bound to see that justice is 
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As the Government's memorandum acknowledged, the prosecu- 
tor's arguments to the jury were indefensible and had the potential to 
mislead and inflame the jury.16' Although there was no evidence that 
the defendants committed terrorist acts or were tied to any specific 
terrorist organization, the prosecutor in his opening statement re- 
ferred to the defendants as a "'shadowy group' that 'stayed in the 
weeds' [and were] 'planning, seeking direction, awaiting the cal1."'l62 
These comments, made at the outset of the trial, grossly misrepre- 
sented the evidence, and in a climate of fear and tension, were delib- 
erately designed to prejudice the jury?' 

Even more inflammatory were the prosecutor's insinuations dur- 
ing his summation that if the jurors did not convict the defendants, 
innocent people would peri~h.16~ The prosecutor stated: "Don't give 
these people another chance to make their plan effe~tive."l6~ Refer- 
ring to the defendants' potential victims-i.e., "'the mother and father 
in the ride in the Disneyworld underground,' the 'soldier in Incirlik, 
Turkey, who takes a plane off,' 'the people from Amman, Jordan who 
go to that hospital,' 'the people in Las Vegas in the lobbies of hotels,' 
'the person walking into the New York Times Building' "-the prose- 
cutor insinuated, in clear violation of legal and ethical rules, that ac- 
quitting the defendants would invite the murder of these innocent 
people.166 

IV. CONCLUSION 

The Detroit terror case offers a unique opportunity to examine 
closely the vulnerability of the fact-finding process when an intrinsi- 
cally fair-minded and conscientious jury is exposed extrinsically to un- 
truthful, incomplete, and misleading evidence and argument. Given 
the Government's unusual concession that the defendants received an 
unfair trial, and its careful description of the quality of the evidence 
and the manner in which it was presented and argued, the conclusion 
is inescapable that any intrinsically competent jury will almost always 
make the wrong decision when its verdict is based on extrinsically de- 
fective information which the jury lacks the competence to expose. 

done. . . [I]t may be difficult for [the jurors] to ignore his views, however biased and 
baseless they may in fact be. 

Id. at 1178-79. 
161. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 57-58. 
162. Id. at 10-11 (quoting 8 Tr. 1023-24). 
163. See generally Pyszczynski & Wrightsman, supra note 8 (describing impact of opening 

statements on mock jurors). 
164. See GERSHMAN, supra note 68, at $0 11:2-11:lO (describing various arguments used by 

prosecutors to inflame fears, passions, and prejudices of the jury). 
165. See Government Motion, supra note 15, at 57. 
166. See id. at 57-58: GEKSHMAN, supra note 68, at $8 11:4-115. 
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The Detroit terrorist trial contained many of the ingredients that 
produce a miscarriage of justice. The trial was conducted in a climate 
of fear; the jury was selected anonymously and subjected to intense 
pressure to convict; the evidence that the Government presented to 
the jury was fraudulent; and the prosecution used inflammatory tactics 
to incite the jury to convict. Undoubtedly, psychological investiga- 
tions of the intrinsic factors that affect jury decision-making are use- 
ful. However, any close analysis of jury verdicts must focus on those 
extrinsic factors that relate to the quality of the evidence and the man- 
ner of its presentation. As the Detroit verdict unmistakably shows, 
even a qualified, diligent, and carefully selected jury will get it wrong 
when it is secretly misled and misinformed by a partisan advocate bent 
on winning at all costs. 
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